

SCIENTIFIC OPINION

Chromium nitrate as a source of chromium added for nutritional purposes to food supplements ¹

Scientific Opinion of the Panel on Food Additives and Nutrient Sources added to Food (ANS)

(Question No EFSA-Q-2005-216)

Adopted on 2 June 2009

PANEL MEMBERS

F. Aguilar, U.R. Charrondiere, B. Dusemund, P. Galtier, J. Gilbert, D.M. Gott, S. Grilli, R. Guertler, G.E.N. Kass, J. Koenig, C. Lambré, J-C. Larsen, J-C. Leblanc, A. Mortensen, D. Parent-Massin, I. Pratt, I.M.C.M. Rietjens, I. Stankovic, P. Tobback, T. Verguieva, R. Woutersen.

SUMMARY

Following a request from the European Commission to the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA), the Scientific Panel on Food Additives and Nutrient Sources added to Food (ANS) was asked to provide a scientific opinion on the safety of chromium(III) nitrate as a source of chromium added for nutritional purposes to food supplement and on the bioavailability of chromium from this source.

The present opinion deals only with the safety of a particular source of chromium, chromium(III) nitrate, intended to be used in food supplements and with the bioavailability of chromium from this source. The safety of chromium itself, in terms of the amounts that may be consumed, is outside the remit of this Panel.

In the adult population (over 18 years old), assuming mean and 97.5th percentile European dietary chromium(III) intakes in the ranges of 60–160 μ g/day and 126-170 μ g/day, respectively, consumption of food supplements containing 500 μ g chromium(III)/day (the highest use level proposed by the petitioner) would result in a total anticipated daily chromium intake, from food and food supplements, between 560 and 660 μ g

¹ For citation purposes: Scientific Opinion of the Panel on Food Additives and Nutrient Sources added to Food on chromium nitrate as a source of chromium added for nutritional purposes to food supplements following a request from the European Commission. *The EFSA Journal* (2009) 1111, 1-19



chromium(III)/day at the average level of dietary exposure and between 626 and 670 μ g/day at the high level of dietary exposure, if no other food supplements containing chromium(III) were taken.

In children aged 3 to 17 years old, assuming mean and 97.5th percentile dietary chromium(III) intakes in the ranges of 63–69 μ g/day and 107-119 μ g/day, respectively, consumption of food supplements containing 500 μ g chromium(III)/day (the highest use level proposed by the petitioner) would result in a total anticipated daily chromium intake, from food and food supplements, between 563 and 569 μ g chromium(III)/day at the average level of dietary exposure and between 607 and 619 μ g/day at the high level of dietary exposure, if no other food supplements containing chromium(III) were taken.

No bioavailability data specific for chromium(III) nitrate were presented but, the petitioner states that being highly soluble, chromium(III) nitrate fully dissociates into its two components (nitrate and chromium(III)) in the stomach and therefore it should be absorbed in the same manner as chromium(III) chloride. In the absence of specific supporting data, this statement cannot be evaluated but the Panel considers that the bioavailability of chromium(III) from chromium(III) nitrate could be expected to be similar to that for other inorganic soluble chromium salts. In any case, this absorption is low (0.5-2%).

If, as stated by the petitioner, the compound readily dissociates in the stomach, the Panel considers that the safety of the compound must be assessed regarding its two components: nitrate and chromium(III).

Nitrates have been assessed by the Scientific Committee on Food (SCF), EFSA and the Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives (JECFA), the estimated dietary exposure to nitrate is about 157 mg/day. Given the proposed uses for chromium(III) nitrate as a food supplement, a daily intake of 0.5 mg of chromium(III) will be associated with a daily intake of approximately 1.8 mg of nitrate. The Acceptable Daily Intake (ADI) for nitrate is 3.7 mg/kg bw/day, equivalent to 222 mg/day for a 60 kg adult. On the basis of the information available in the dossier, given the proposed use levels presented by the petitioner and the resulting exposure to nitrate, the Panel concludes that the amount of nitrate that would be consumed as a result of the proposed uses of chromium(III) nitrate as a source of chromium would not be of safety concern.

The toxicity of chromium compounds has been evaluated by various authorities including the SCF, the UK Expert group on Vitamin and Minerals (EVM), the US Food and Nutrition Board (FNB) and the World Health Organization (WHO).

The SCF has issued an opinion on the Tolerable Upper Intake Levels (ULs) of trivalent chromium (chromium(III)) and concluded that limited data from studies on subchronic, chronic and reproductive toxicity on soluble trivalent chromium salts and the available human data do not give clear information on the dose-response relationships and therefore a UL could not be derived.

The US FNB concluded that data from animal and human studies are insufficient to establish a UL for soluble trivalent chromium salts.

The EVM also concluded that overall there are insufficient data from human and animal studies to derive a safe upper level for chromium. However, in the EVM opinion it was indicated that a total daily intake of about 0.15 mg chromium(III)/kg bw/day (or 10 mg/person) was expected to be without adverse health effects.



The WHO considered that supplementation of chromium in adults should not exceed 250 μ g/day.

Information on the toxicity of chromium(III) is limited but given the available data the Panel concludes that the use of chromium(III) nitrate as a source of chromium(III) in food supplements would not be of safety concern provided that the level for supplementation of 250 µg chromium/day recommended by the WHO is not exceeded.

In addition, the Panel notes that recent reviews and evaluations of chromium(III) point at conflicting outcomes of genotoxicity assays and report diverging views and conclusions on the consequences of this genotoxicity issue for the ultimate safety assessment of chromium(III). The Panel notes that additional relevant in vivo studies have shown that exposure to chromium(III) chloride and chromium(III) nitrate induced DNA deletions in mice and yeast respectively and that it was recently reported that occupational exposure to chromium(III) can lead to DNA damage to human peripheral lymphocyte as evidenced by the Comet assay. The Panel is aware that given this situation the safety of chromium(III) might need to be re-evaluated in light of these recent reviews and evaluations.

Key words:

Chromium nitrate, CAS Registry Number 13548-38-4 (anhydrous); CAS Registry Number 7789-02-8 (nonahydrate), food supplement



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Panel Members	1				
Summary	1				
Table of Contents 4					
Background5					
Terms of reference					
Acknowledgements					
ASSESSMENT					
1. Introduction					
2. Technical data					
2.1. Chemistry					
2.2. Specifications					
2.3. Manufacturing process					
2.4. Methods of analysis in food					
2.5. Reaction and fate in foods to which the source is added					
2.6. Case of need and proposed uses					
2.7. Information on existing authorisations and evaluations					
2.8. Exposure					
3. Biological and toxicological data					
3.1. Bioavailability					
3.2. Toxicological data					
3.2.1. Human data on chromium:					
3.2.2. Animal studies on chromium					
3.2.2.1. Acute toxicity					
3.2.2.2. Subchronic and chronic toxicity					
3.2.2.3. Genotoxicity					
3.2.2.4. Carcinogenicity					
3.2.2.5. Toxicity of nitrate					
4. Discussion					
Conclusions					
Documentation provided to EFSA					
References					
Glossary / Abbreviations					



BACKGROUND

The European Community legislation lists nutritional substances that may be used for nutritional purposes in certain categories of foods as sources of certain nutrients.

The Commission has received a request for the evaluation of chromium nitrate added for nutritional purposes to food supplements. The relevant Community legislative measure is:

• Directive 2002/46/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council on the approximation of the laws of the Member States relating to food supplements

TERMS OF REFERENCE

In accordance with Article 29 (1)(a) of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002, the European Commission asks the European Food Safety Authority to provide a scientific opinion, based on its consideration of the safety and bioavailability of chromium nitrate added for nutritional purposes in food supplements.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The European Food Safety Authority wishes to thank the members of Working Group A on Food Additives and Nutrient Sources for the preparation of this opinion: F. Aguilar, N. Bemrah, P. Galtier, J. Gilbert, S. Grilli, R. Guertler, G.E.N. Kass, C. Lambré, J.C. Larsen, J.-C. Leblanc, A. Mortensen, I. Pratt, I. Stankovic



ASSESSMENT

1. Introduction

The present opinion deals only with the safety of a particular source of chromium, chromium(III) nitrate, intended to be used in food supplements and with the bioavailability of the chromium from this source. The safety of chromium itself, in terms of the amounts that may be consumed, is outside the remit of this Panel.

2. Technical data

2.1. Chemistry

Anhydrous chromium nitrate is a chemical with the molecular formula $Cr(NO_3)_3$, a molecular mass of 238.01 g/mol and the CAS Registry Number 13548-38-4. The nonahydrate form $(Cr(NO_3)_3 \cdot 9H_20)$ has a molecular mass of 400.21 g/mol and a CAS Registry Number 7789-02-8.

Synonyms proposed by the petitioner are chromic nitrate nonahydrate, chromium(III) nitrate, chromium trinitrate.

2.2. Specifications

Chromium nitrate is described by the petitioner as a pale green powder and the nonahydrate form as a violet crystalline powder, which is freely soluble in water.

The petitioner indicates that the purity is not less than 99.9% on the anhydrous basis. The limits for impurities are as follow: arsenic $\leq 3 \text{ mg/kg}$; lead $\leq 5 \text{ mg/kg}$; mercury $\leq 1 \text{ mg/kg}$.

The Panel notes that according to Commission Regulation (EC) No 629/2008 (EC, 2008) the maximum levels of lead, mercury and cadmium in food supplements as sold should be 3 mg/kg, 0.1 mg/kg and 1 mg/kg, respectively.

2.3. Manufacturing process

Chromium nitrate is obtained by dissolving chromium hydroxide in nitric acid and crystallising out the chromium nitrate nonahydrate.

2.4. Methods of analysis in food

The petitioner indicated that chromium nitrate may be identified by infrared (IR) spectrometry and that the content of chromium can be analysed by Atomic Absorption Spectroscopy (AAS) and Inductively Coupled Plasma Atomic Emission Spectrometry (ICP-AES) following an appropriate extraction and preparation of the samples.

No information was provided for the determination of nitrate.



2.5. Reaction and fate in foods to which the source is added

The petitioner indicated that the compound was stable in food. However, no supporting data have been provided.

2.6. Case of need and proposed uses

The petitioner proposed to use chromium nitrate as a source of chromium in food supplements to provide 20–500 μ g chromium/day for adults (corresponding to 70-1789 μ g nitrate/day). The petitioner indicated that chromium nitrate is included in food supplement products to provide 20 to 500 μ g chromium/day for adults and typically provides 100-200 μ g in one tablet to be taken daily.

2.7. Information on existing authorisations and evaluations

Nitrates have been assessed by the SCF (1992, 1997), JECFA (2003a,b) and EFSA (2008). The Acceptable Daily Intake (ADI) for nitrate is 3.7 mg/kg bw/day (SCF, 1992), equivalent to 222 mg nitrate/day for a 60 kg adult.

Chromium(III) chloride and chromium(III) sulphate are included in Annex II of the Food Supplements Directive 2002/46/EC (EC, 2002) as approved sources of chromium and also within Annex Category 2 of Directive 2001/15/EC (EC, 2001) as substances that may be added for specific nutritional purposes to food for particular nutritional uses (PARNUTS).

The SCF has previously given an opinion on the Tolerable Upper Intake Level (UL) of chromium(III) (SCF, 2003). The SCF considered that the data from studies on subchronic, chronic and reproductive toxicity in experimental animals of soluble trivalent chromium salts and the available human data did not provide clear information on the dose-response relationships, and therefore the SCF was not able to derive a UL for chromium. The UK EVM (2002, 2003) similarly concluded that overall there were insufficient data from human and animal studies to derive a safe upper level for chromium. However, in the EVM opinion it was indicated that a total daily intake of about 150 μ g chromium(III)/kg bw/day (approximately 10 mg/day for a 70 kg person) would be expected to be without adverse health effects (EVM, 2003). The US FNB also concluded that the data from animal and human studies are insufficient to establish an UL for soluble chromium(III) salts (FNB, 2001), while the WHO considered that supplementation of chromium should not exceed 250 μ g/day (WHO, 1996). The Societies for Nutrition of Germany (DGE), Austria (ÖGE) and Switzerland (SGE), jointly established an ADI of 30-100 μ g chromium/day for adults (D-A-CH, 2000).

The Institute of Medicine (IOM) reported that there is not sufficient evidence to set an Estimated Average Requirement (EAR) for chromium (IOM, 2001). Therefore, based on estimated mean intakes, Adequate Intakes (AIs) were set at 35 and 25 μ g/day for young men and women, respectively.



2.8. Exposure

Chromium

The Panel noted that chromium is a trace element and that in its trivalent form, it is ubiquitous in the environment and naturally present in meat, grains lentils and spices.

Currently, chromium(III) is used in food supplements in a number of countries in the European Union. Exposure to chromium(III) also commonly occurs via food, with the highest levels being found in meat and meat products, oils and fats, breads and cereals, fish, pulses and spices (SCF, 2003; EVM, 2003).

The SCF report provides information on average chromium dietary intakes, ranging from 60 to 160 μ g/day in adults in some European countries (SCF, 2003). The 97.5th percentile dietary intake values of chromium were reported to range from 126 to 170 μ g/day (Leblanc *et al.*, 2005; SCF, 2003). Data from the French Total Diet Study provided average intakes of chromium of 63 μ g/day for children aged 3-10 years old and 69 μ g/day for 11-17 years old, and high percentile intakes of 107 μ g/day for 3-10 years old and 119 μ g/day for 11-17 years old.

In the adult population (over 18 years old), assuming mean and 97.5th percentile European dietary chromium(III) intake in the ranges of 60–160 μ g/day and 126-170 μ g/day, respectively, consumption of food supplements containing 500 μ g chromium(III)/day (the highest use level proposed by the petitioner) would result in a total anticipated daily chromium intake, from food and food supplements, between 560 and 660 μ g chromium(III)/day at the average level of dietary exposure and between 626 and 670 μ g/day at the high level of dietary exposure, if no other food supplements containing chromium(III) were taken-(Table 1).

In children aged 3 to 17 years old, assuming mean and 97.5th percentile dietary chromium(III) intakes in the range of 63–69 μ g/day and 107-119 μ g/day, respectively, consumption of food supplements containing 500 μ g chromium(III)/day (the highest use level proposed by the petitioner) would result in a total anticipated daily chromium intake, from food and food supplements, between 563 and 569 μ g chromium(III)/day at the average level of dietary exposure and between 607 and 619 μ g/day at the high level of dietary exposure, if no other food supplements containing chromium(III) were taken (Table 1).

Table 1.Summary information on chromium intake and anticipated potentialexposure to chromium from chromium(III) nitrate.

Nutrient: Chromium	Amount (µg/day)	Average intake (µg/day)	High intake (µg/day)	References
Recommended Daily Intake	30 to 100 for adults			D-A-CH, 2000
Maximum level of supplementation	250			WHO, 1996
Intake range from food in Europe for adults		60-160	126-170	SCF, 2003 Leblanc <i>et al.</i> , 2005
Intake range from food in Europe for children (3-17 years old)		63-69	107-119	Leblanc et al., 2005



Daily amount of chromium(III) added to food supplements from chromium nitrate as	500			Technical dossier 2005
indicated by petitioner				
Source: Chromium nitrate				
Total anticipated exposure to chromium from food supplements and dietary intake for adults ¹		560-660	626-670	Calculation by the Panel
Total anticipated exposure to chromium from food supplements and dietary intake for children $(3-17 \text{ years old})^2$		563-569	607-619	Calculation by the Panel

¹calculation based on proposed use level of 500 μ g/day plus average dietary intake of 60-160 μ g/day and high dietary intake of 126-170 μ g/day for adults.

²calculation based on proposed use level of 500 μ g/day plus average dietary intake of 63-69 μ g/day and high dietary intake of 107-119 μ g/day for children.

Nitrate

Vegetables contain higher levels of nitrate than other foods and contribute the most to dietary nitrate exposure. Plants have different storage capacities for nitrate, with spinach and lettuce often containing more significant amounts, and rucola having the highest amounts (EFSA, 2008).

Given the proposed use for chromium nitrate as a food supplement, a daily intake of up to 0.5 mg of chromium results in an associated daily intake of approximately 1.8 mg of nitrate. An ADI for nitrate of 3.7 mg/kg bw/day, equivalent to 222 mg nitrate/day for a 60 kg adult and 114.7 mg/day in a 31 kg child was established by the SCF (SCF, 1992, 1997) and reconfirmed by JECFA (JECFA, 2003a,b) and EFSA (EFSA, 2008).

Reported average European dietary intakes of nitrates range from 55 mg/day in the adult Finnish population (Pentilà, 1990) to 190 mg/day in French adults (Menard *et al.*, 2008). High percentile intake values for nitrates were reported from 113 mg/day in Danish adults (Petersen and Stoltze, 1999) and up to 198 mg/day in French adults (Menard *et al.*, 2008). The average intakes for children have been reported to vary between 0.9 mg/day in Estonia (Reinik *et al.*, 2005) and 62 mg/day in France (Menard *et al.*, 2008). High intake values for nitrates for children have only been reported in France and are equal to 151.9 mg/day (Menard *et al.*, 2008).

Assuming mean and high percentile European dietary nitrate intakes in the ranges of 55–190 μ g/day and 113-198 μ g/day, respectively, consumption of an additional food supplement containing 1.8 mg of nitrate (the maximum dose proposed by the petitioner) would result in a total daily nitrate intake between 56.8 and 191.8 mg nitrate/day in an adult at the average level and between 114.8 to 199.8 mg/day at the high level of dietary nitrate intake.

In children, assuming mean and high percentile dietary nitrate intakes in the ranges of 0.9 - 62 mg/day and 151.9 mg/day, respectively, consumption of an additional food supplement containing 1.8 mg nitrate/day (the maximum dose proposed by the petitioner) would result in a total daily nitrate intake between 2.7 and 63.8 mg nitrate/day at the average level and 153.7 mg/day at the high level of dietary nitrate intake



3. Biological and toxicological data

3.1. Bioavailability

No specific information on the bioavailability of chromium from chromium nitrate was provided by the petitioner. According to the petitioner, chromium(III) nitrate is highly soluble in water, fully dissociating in the stomach and chromium(III) is then absorbed in the same manner as from chromium(III) chloride.

Differences in chromium(III) bioavailability have been reported depending on the ionic form and/or the organic or the inorganic forms of chromium. In the intestine of black ducks, chromium was absorbed from saline solutions of chromium potassium sulphate (KCr(SO₄)₂) and chromium trioxide (CrO₃) at a rate of about 1.5 to 2.0 times greater than from solutions of chromium nitrate (Cr(NO₃)) and the organic salt, 2,4-pentanedione chromium (Cr(C₅H₇O₃)₃) (Eastin *et al.*, 1980). Using an *in vitro* model of the rat jejunum, very limited differences in the absorption of chromium(III) between the inorganic salts, chromium chloride and chromium nitrate, and the organic salt, chromium picolinate, have been reported, however the organic form penetrates the jejunum more efficiently than the inorganic salts (Gammelgaard *et al.*, 1999). Therefore the Panel considers that chromium from the nitrate and chloride salts should be absorbed in a similar way.

Intestinal absorption of chromium(III) is low (0.5-2%). The mechanism of absorption is still unclear but it appears to involve processes other than passive diffusion (EVM, 2003). Following absorption, trivalent chromium binds to plasma proteins such as transferrin and is transported to the liver, a process partly regulated by insulin (Clodfelder *et al*, 2001). In humans, chromium concentrates in the liver, spleen, soft tissue, and bone; a similar pattern is seen in rats with incorporation in the kidneys and testes in addition to the liver, spleen, brain, and bone (FNB, 2001; Tandon *et al.*, 1979). Mertz *et al.* (1965) proposed a three-compartment model with half-lives of 0.5, 5.9, and 83 days based on studies of radiolabelled chromium (⁵¹CrCl₃) in rats. Urine is the main excretory route for absorbed chromium in both animals and humans, with small amounts also being excreted in perspiration and bile. Urinary chromium excretion reflects the dietary chromium intake in a dose-dependent manner (Kumpulainen, 1992; Uusitupa *et al.*, 1992).

Trivalent chromium potentiates insulin action and thereby influences carbohydrate, lipid and protein metabolism. Chromium binds to transferrin (Peterson, 1967), and interactions between iron and chromium are therefore possible, resulting in impairment of iron storage and metabolism.

3.2. Toxicological data

No specific data were provided by the petitioner about the toxicological profile of the source or of nitrate. The information provided by the petitioner referred only to the toxicity of trivalent chromium (EVM, 2003).

The toxicity of chromium compounds has been reviewed by several institutions (IPCS, 1988, 2006; WHO, 1996, 2009; EPA, 1998; IOM, 2001; EVM, 2003; SCF, 2003; IARC, 1990).

Nitrates have been assessed by the SCF (1992, 1997), JECFA (2003a,b) and EFSA (2008).



3.2.1. Human data on chromium:

No relevant data were provided by the petitioner on chromium(III) nitrate.

3.2.2. Animal studies on chromium

3.2.2.1. Acute toxicity

No information was provided by the petitioner on the acute toxicity of chromium(III) nitrate in animals.

3.2.2.2. Subchronic and chronic toxicity

As noted by the SCF (2003) and the EVM (2003) there are limited data from subchronic and chronic studies on the toxicity of soluble trivalent chromium salts. The available data provided by the petitioner were limited. Oral exposure to trivalent or hexavalent chromium compounds resulted in adverse intestinal, hepatic, renal, immunological, neurological developmental and reproductive effects. Trivalent chromium appears less toxic than hexavalent chromium (EVM, 2003) with chronic intakes of up to 750 mg/kg bw/day not being associated with adverse effects. Both forms of chromium have been reported to reduce fertility, foetal weight, and crown length and increase post-implantation in mice (EVM, 2003).

The SCF (2003) reports that chromium chloride given in drinking water at levels of 2000 or 5000 mg/L *ad libitum* for 12 weeks to Swiss mice reduced body weights (male only) and fertility. Significant changes in the weights of reproductive organs have also been noted (Elbetieha and Al Hamood, 1997). The SCF noted that Elbetieha and Al Hamood (1997) did not report the actual intake of chromium chloride but oral doses for chromium(III) of approximately 500 or 1250 mg/kg bw/day for females and 250 or 1250 mg/kg bw/day for males were estimated by the EVM (EVM, 2003). The SCF (2003) also reported that the weight of reproductive organs in male Sprague Dawley rats exposed to chromium(III) chloride in drinking water (1000 mg/L for 12 weeks, equivalent to about 50 mg chromium chloride/kg bw/day or about 16.5 mg chromium(III)/kg bw/day), was significantly reduced (Bataineh *et al.*, 1997).

In a 2-year study on rats and mice of both sexes, exposed (in feed) to chromium(III) picolinate monohydrate at very high concentrations (equivalent to 0, 10.7, 54.9 and 286.2 mg Cr(III)/kg bw/day), no effect on body weight and no significant adverse effects were reported (NTP, 2008; Stout *et al.*, 2009).

3.2.2.3. Genotoxicity

Levina and Lay (2008) discussed the chemical transformations of chromium(III) nutritional supplements in biological media, with implications for both beneficial and toxic actions of chromium(III) complexes, which are likely to arise from the same biochemical mechanisms, dependent on the concentrations of the reactive species. These species include: (i) partial hydrolysis products of chromium(III) nutritional supplements, which are capable of binding



to biological macromolecules and altering their functions; and (ii) highly reactive chromium(VI/V/IV) species and organic radicals, formed in reactions of chromium(III) with biological oxidants. Low concentrations of these species are likely to cause alterations in cell signalling (including enhancement of insulin signalling) through interactions with the active centers of regulatory enzymes in the cell membrane or in the cytoplasm, while higher concentrations are likely to produce genotoxic DNA lesions in the cell nucleus.

The Panel notes that recent reviews and evaluations of chromium(III) (Eastmond *et al.*, 2008; Levina and Lay, 2008) point at conflicting outcomes of genotoxicity assays and report diverging views and conclusions on the consequences of this genotoxicity issue for the ultimate safety assessment of chromium (III). The Panel notes that additional relevant *in vivo* studies have shown that exposure to chromium(III) chloride and chromium(III) nitrate induced DNA deletions in mice and yeast respectively (Kirpnick-Sobol *et al.*, 2006) and that it was recently reported that occupational exposure to chromium(III) can lead to DNA damage to human peripheral lymphocyte as evidenced by the Comet assay (Zhang *et al.*, 2008).

3.2.2.4. Carcinogenicity

According to the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) "metallic chromium and chromium(III) compounds are not classifiable as to their carcinogenicity to humans" (Group 3) (IARC, 1990). In recent chronic toxicity and carcinogenicity studies, rats and mice (Stout *et al.*, 2009) were exposed for 2 years (in feed) to chromium(III) picolinate monohydrate at very high concentrations equivalent to 0, 10.7; 54.9 and 286.2 mg chromium(III)/kg bw/day. The data showed very little evidence of adverse effects; in male rats, there was equivocal evidence of carcinogenic activity based on increased preputial gland adenomas (only in the 54.9 mg chromium(III)/kg bw/day dose group). There was no evidence of carcinogenic activity in female rats or in male and female mice.

3.2.2.5. Toxicity of nitrate

Nitrates have been assessed by the SCF (1992, 1997), JECFA (2003a,b) and EFSA (2008). The ADI for nitrate is 3.7 mg/kg bw/day, equivalent to 222 mg nitrate/day for a 60 kg adult.

4. Discussion

The IOM (2001) reported that there is insufficient evidence to set an EAR for chromium. Therefore, based on estimated mean intakes, an AI was set at 35 μ g/day and 25 μ g/day for young men and women, respectively. The SCF report (2003) provides information on chromium(III) dietary intakes in some European countries which range from 60 μ g/day in average to 170 μ g/day at the 97.5th percentile. The petitioner indicated that chromium nitrate is included in food supplements to provide from 20 to 500 μ g chromium(III)/day in adults and typical uses provide 100-200 μ g in a single tablet to be taken daily. On the basis of these figures, consumption of food supplements containing 500 μ g chromium(III)/day in addition to the dietary intake would result in a total daily intake of chromium(III) varying from 560 μ g (at the average level of dietary exposure) up to 670 μ g (at the high level of dietary exposure).

The Panel notes that the highest level of chromium supplementation proposed by the petitioner (500 μ g/day) is above the level of 250 μ g chromium/day considered by the WHO as a value for supplementation that should not be exceeded.

No data on the bioavailability of chromium from chromium nitrate were presented, but the petitioner states that chromium(III) nitrate being highly soluble, it fully dissociates in the stomach into its two components (nitrate and chromium(III)) and therefore chromium(III) from chromium(III) nitrate should be absorbed in the same manner as chromium from chromium(III) chloride. The Panel considers that the bioavailability of chromium from chromium nitrate could be expected to be similar to that from other inorganic soluble chromium salts. In any case, this absorption is low (0.5-2%).

If, as stated by the petitioner, the compound readily dissociates in the stomach, the Panel considers that the safety of the compound must be assessed regarding its two components: nitrate and chromium(III).

The Panel notes that nitrates have been assessed by the SCF (1992, 1997), JECFA (2003a,b) and EFSA (2008). The use of chromium nitrate to provide a daily intake of 250 μ g of chromium(III) will be associated with a daily intake of approximately 0.9 mg of nitrate. The Panel noted that this amount of nitrate corresponds to 0.6% of the ADI (3.7 mg/kg bw/day) for a 60 kg adult (SCF, 1992)). The additional amount of nitrate coming from consumption of food supplements appears limited but yet not advisable in the context of a chemical which is one of the four priorities identified by the WHO (2007) and taking into account the risks and benefits (Bottex *et al.* 2008).

The Panel notes that recent reviews and evaluations of chromium(III) (Eastmond *et al.*, 2008; Levina and Lay, 2008) point at conflicting outcomes of genotoxicity assays and report diverging views and conclusions on the consequences of this genotoxicity issue for the ultimate safety assessment of chromium(III). The Panel notes that additional relevant *in vivo* studies have shown that exposure to chromium(III) chloride and chromium(III) nitrate induced DNA deletions in mice and yeast respectively (Kirpnick-Sobol *et al.*, 2006) and that it was recently reported that occupational exposure to chromium(III) can lead to DNA damage to human peripheral lymphocyte as evidenced by the Comet assay (Zhang *et al.*, 2008). The Panel is aware that given this situation the safety of chromium(III) might need to be re-evaluated in light of these recent reviews and evaluations.

CONCLUSIONS

The present opinion deals only with the safety of chromium(III) nitrate as a source of chromium added for nutritional purposes to food supplements and with the bioavailability of chromium from this source.

In view of the petitioner's statement that chromium nitrate is highly soluble and fully dissociates in the stomach, the Panel considers that the safety of the chromium(III) nitrate must be assessed regarding its two components: nitrate and chromium(III).

The Panel concurs with the view of the SCF that overall, the bioavailability of chromium(III) is low and therefore the bioavailability of chromium from chromium(III) nitrate is low and likely to be similar to that of chromium from the diet (0.5-2%).

The Panel concludes that the use of chromium(III) nitrate as a source of chromium(III) in food supplements would not be of safety concern provided the level for supplementation of



 $250 \ \mu g$ chromium/day recommended by the WHO is not exceeded. This amount would result in an exposure to nitrate of approximately 0.9 mg of nitrate corresponding to 0.6% of the ADI for a 60 kg adult which is not of safety concern.

In addition, the Panel notes that recent reviews and evaluations of chromium(III) point at conflicting outcomes of genotoxicity assays and report diverging views and conclusions on the consequences of this genotoxicity issue for the ultimate safety assessment of chromium(III). The Panel notes that additional relevant *in vivo* studies have shown that exposure to chromium(III) chloride and chromium(III) nitrate induced DNA deletions in mice and yeast respectively and that it was recently reported that occupational exposure to chromium(III) can lead to DNA damage to human peripheral lymphocyte as evidenced by the Comet assay. The Panel is aware that given this situation the safety of chromium(III) might need to be re-evaluated in light of these recent reviews and evaluations.

DOCUMENTATION PROVIDED TO EFSA

Dossier on Chromium Nitrate. Proposed for Addition to Annex II of Directive 2002/46/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council Relating to Food Supplements. June, 2005. Submitted by Health Food Manufacturers Association, UK.

REFERENCES

- Bataineh H, Al-Hamood MH, Elbetieha A, Hani IB, 1997 Effect of Long-Term Ingestion of Chromium Compounds on Aggression, Sex Behavior and Fertility in Adult Male Rat. Drug Chem. Toxicol. 20 (3), 133-149.
- Bottex B, Dorne J-LCM, Carlander D, Benford D, Przyrembel H, Heppner C, Kleiner J, Cockburn A, 2008. Risk-benefit health assessment of food. Food fortification and nitrate in vegetables. Trends Food Sci. Tech. 19, S113-119.
- Clodfelder BJ, Emamaullee J, Hepburn DDD, Chakov NE, Nettles HS, Vincent JB, 2001 The trail of chromium(III) *in vivo* from the blood to the urine: the roles of transferring and chromodulin. J. Biol. Inorg. Chem. 6, 608-617.
- D-A-CH, 2000. Referenzwerte für die Nährstoffzufuhr. Deutsche Gesellschaft für Ernährung (DGE), Österreichische Gesellschaft für Ernährung (ÖGE), Schweizerische Gesellschaft für Ernährungsforschung (SGE), Schweizerische Vereinigung für Ernährung (SVE). Umschau Braus GmbH, Verlagsgesellschaft, Frankfurt/Main, 1. Auflage
- Eastin Jr WC, Haseltine SD, Murray HC, 1980. Intestinal absorption of 5 chromium compounds in young black ducks. Toxicol. Lett. 6, 193-197.



- Eastmond DA, MacGregor JT, Slesinski RS, 2008. Trivalent Chromium: Assessing the Genotoxic Risk of an Essential Trace Element and Widely Used Human and Animal Nutritional Supplement. CRC Crit. Rev. Toxicol. 38(3), 173-190.
- Elbetieha A and Al-Hamood M, 1997. Long-term exposure of male and female mice to trivalent and hexavalent chromium compounds: effect on fertility. Toxicology 116, 39-47.
- EC (European Commission), 2001. Directive 2001/15/EC of 15 February 2001 on substances that may be added for specific nutritional purposes in foods for particular nutritional uses. Official Journal of the European Communities, L52, 22.2.2001, 19-25.
- EC (European Commission), 2002. Directive 2002/46/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council on the approximation of the laws of the Member States relating to food supplements. Official Journal of the European Communities, L183, 12.7.2002, 51-58.
- EC (European Commission), 2008. Commission Regulation (EC) No 629/2008 of 2 July 2008 amending Regulation (EC) No 1881/2006 setting maximum levels for certain contaminants in foodstuff. OJ L 173, 3.07.2008.
- EFSA (European Food Safety Authority), 2008. Opinion of the Scientific Panel on Contaminants in the Food chain on a request from the European Commission to perform a scientific risk assessment on nitrate in vegetables. The EFSA Journal 689, 1-79.
- EPA (Environmental Protection Agency), 1998. Toxicological Review of Trivalent Chromium. CAS No. 16065-83-1. In support of Summary Information on the Integrated Risk Information System (IRIS). U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, D.C.
- EVM (Expert Group on Vitamins and Minerals), 2003. Part 3: trace elements Chromium. In Safe Upper Levels for Vitamins and Minerals: Report of the Expert Group on Vitamins and Minerals. 172-179. 2003. Food Standards Agency (FSA), London, England
- FNB (Food and Nutrition Board), 2001. Dietary Reference Intakes: Vitamin A, Vitamin K, Arsenic, Boron, Chromium, Copper, Iodine, Iron, Manganese, Molybdenum, Nickel, Silicon, Vanadium and Zinc. . Washington D.C.
- Gammelgaard B, Jensen K, Steffansen B, 1999. In vitro metabolism and permeation studies in rat jejunum: organic chromium compared to inorganic chromium. J Trace Elem Med Bio. 13(1-2), 82-8



- IARC (International Agency for Research on Cancer), 1990. Chromium, Nickel and Welding. Lyon, France, IARC Monographs on the evaluation of carcinogenic risks to humans.
- IOM (Institute of Medicine), 2001. Dietary reference intakes for vitamin A, vitamin K, Arsenic, Boron, Chromium, Copper, Iodine, Iron, Manganese, Molybdenum, Nickel, Silicon, Vanadium and Zinc.
- IPCS (International Programme on Chemical Safety), 1988. Environmental health criteria 61. Chromium. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organisation, p. 197.

Available at: <u>http://www.inchem.org/documents/ehc/ehc/ehc61.htm</u>

- JECFA (Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives), 2003a. Nitrate (and potential endogenous formation of N-nitroso compounds). WHO Food Additive series 50, Geneva: World Health Organisation.
- JECFA (Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives), 2003b. Nitrate and Nitrite (Intake assessment). WHO Food Additive series 50, Geneva: World Health Organisation.
- Kirpnick-Sobol Z, Reliene R, Schiestl RH, 2006. Carcinogenic Cr(VI) and the nutritional supplement Cr(III) iduce DNA deletions in yeast and mice. Cancer Res. 66, 3480-3484
- Kumpulainen JT, 1992, Chromium content of foods and diets. Biol. Trace Elem. Res. 32, 9-18.
- Leblanc JC, Guérin T, Noël L, Calamassi-Tran G, Volatier JL, Verger P, 2005; Dietary exposure estimates of 18 elements from the 1st French Total Diet Study. Food Addit. Contam. 22 (7), 624-641.
- Levina A and Lay PA, 2008. Chemical properties and toxicity of chromium (III) nutritional supplements. Chem. Res. Toxicol. 21, 563-571.
- Menard C, Heraud F, Volatier JL, Leblanc JC, 2008. Assessment of dietary exposure of nitrate and nitrite in France. Food Addit. Contam. 25 (8), 971-988.
- Mertz W, Roginski EE, Reba RC, 1965. Biological activity and fate of trace quantities of intravenous chromium (3) in the rat. Am. J. Physiolgy 209(3), 489-94.

NTP (National Toxicology Program), 2008. Toxicology and carcinogenesis studies of chromium picolinate monohydrate (CAS No. 27882-76-4) in F344/N rats and B6C3F1 mice (feed studies). Technical Report Series No. 556, NIH Publication No. 08-5897. National



Institutes of Health, Public Health Service, US Department of Health and Human Services, Research Triangle Park (draft).

- Penttilà PL, Rasanen L, Kimppa S, 1990. Nitrate, nitrite and nitroso compounds in finnish foods and the estimation of the dietary intakes. Z Lebensm Unters Forsch 190 (4), 336-340
- Petersen A and Stoltze S, 1999. Nitrate and nitrite in vegetables on the Danish market: content and intake. Food Addit. Contam 16 (7), 291-299.
- Peterson ML, 1967. Transferrin-Chromium A Physiological Index of Gastrointestinal Loss of Serum Proteins. Gastroenterology 52, 1113.
- Reinik M, Tamme T, Roasto M, Juhkam K, Jurtsenko S, Tenno T, Kiis A, 2005. Nitrates, nitrites and N-nitrosoamines in Estonian cured meat products: intake by Estonian children and adolescents. Food Addit. Contam. 22 (11), 1098-1105
- SCF (Scientific Committee for Food), 1992. Opinion on nitrates and nitrites. Reports of the Scientific Committee for Food 26th Series, 21-28..
- SCF (Scientific Committee for Food), 1997. Opinion on nitrates and nitrites. Reports of the Scientific Committee for Food 38th Series, 1-33.
- SCF (Scientific Committee on Food), 2003. Opinion of the Scientific Committee on Food on the tolerable upper intake level of trivalent chromium (expressed on 4 April 2003).
 European Commission, Health and Consumer Protection Directorate-General,Directorate C - Scientific Opinions,C2 - Management of scientific committees; scientific co-operation and networks.
- Stout MD, Nyska A, Collins BJ, Witt KL, Kissling GE, Malarkey DE and Hooth MJ, 2009. Chronic toxicity and carcinogenicity studies of chromium picolinate monohydrate administered in feed to F344/N rats and B6C3F1 mice for 2 years. Food Chem. Toxicol. 47: 729-733.
- Tandon, S.K., Behari, J.R. and Kachru, D.N. 1979. Distribution of chromium in poisoned rats. Toxicology, 18, 29-34.
- Uusitupa MI, Mykkänen L, Siitonen O, Laakso M, Sarlund H, Kolehmainen P, Räsänen T, Kumpulainen J, Pyörälä K, 1992. Chromium supplementation in impaired glucose tolerance of elderly: effects on blood glucose, plasma insulin, C-peptide and lipid levels. Brit. J. Nutr. 68(1), 209-16.



- WHO (World Health Organization), 1996. Trace elements in human nutrition and health (A report of a re-evaluation of the role of trace elements in human health and nutrition). Geneva.
- WHO (World Health Organization), 2007. Chemical safety of drinking water; Assessing priorities for risk managers
- WHO (World Health Organization), 2009. Inorganic chromium(III) compounds. WHO, Geneva.
- Available at: http://www.inchem.org/documents/cicads/cicads/cicad76.pdf
- Zhang M, Chen Z, Chen Q, Zou H, Lou J and He J, 2008. Investigating DNA damage in tannery workers occupationally exposed to trivalent chromium using comet assay. Mutat. Res. 654, 45-51.



GLOSSARY / ABBREVIATIONS

AAS	Atomic Absorption Spectroscopy
ADI	Acceptable Daily Intake
AI	Adequate Intake
ANS Panel	Scientific Panel on Food Additives and Nutrient Sources added to Food
CAS	Chemical Abstracts Service
D-A-CH	Deutschland-Austria- Confoederatio Helvetica
EAR	Estimated Average Requirement
EC	European Commission
EFSA	European Food Safety Authority
EVM	UK Expert Group on Vitamins and Minerals
FNB	US Food and Nutrition Board
IARC	International Agency for Research on Cancer
ICP-AES	Inductively Coupled Plasma Atomic Emission Spectrometry
IOM	Institute of Medicine
IR	Infrared
JECFA	Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives
SCF	Scientific Committee on Food
UL	Tolerable Upper Intake Level
WHO	World Health Organization